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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 18-cv-61631-KMM

THOMAS W. LUCZAK,

Plaintiff,
V.
NATIONAL BEVERAGE CORPORATION,
NICK A. CAPORELLA, and GEORGE R.
BRACKEN,

Defendants.
/

ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS

THIS CAUSE came before the Court uponf&elants National Beverage Corporation
(“National Beverage”), Nick A. Caporella (“Capdeg), and George R. Bracken’s (“Bracken,” and
collectively, “Defendants”) Motion to Dismiss (“Mot.”) (ECF No. 26) Plaintiff Thomas W.
Luczak’s (“Plaintiff’) Amended Giss Action Complaint (“Am. Comg).(ECF No. 25). Plaintiff
responded (“Resp.”) (ECF No. 3@hd Defendants replied (“RepIy(IECF No. 33). The motion is
now ripe for review.

I BACKGROUND

National Beverage is a publicly owned, famtontrolled, and Fd Lauderdale-based
company founded by Caporella thdevelops, produces, markets, asells a portfolio of flavored
beverage products,” including spark] waters LaCroix and ShastaAm. Compl. 11 2—3, 25, 194.

Caporella, the CEO and Chairman of National Bage, controls 73.5% of the company’s common

! National Beverage's stock trades on the RA® under the ticker symbol “FIZZ.” Am. Compl.
13.

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/florida/flsdce/0:2018cv61631/531535/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/florida/flsdce/0:2018cv61631/531535/38/
https://dockets.justia.com/

stock. Id. 11 3, 25. Bracken is National Beverageiecutive Vice President of Financiel. § 26.
Caporella and Bracken are both authorized ta@h}rol the contents diational Beverage’'s SEC
filings, press releases, andchet market communications; (pyevent any communication from
being issued; and (3) correct any misstatemkhty 28.

Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all bérs similarly situated, brings the instant
securities class action against Defendants pursu&8t16(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. Id. § 1. Plaintiff alleges that duringetdesignated class period of July 17, 2014
through October 30, 2018 (the “ClaBeriod”), he acquick National Beverage @tk at artificially
inflated prices due to repeated material misregmeations and omissiois National Beverage’s
publicly issued statements, and that these miesgmtations and omissions caused Plaintiff and
other class members “significant losses and damagkek.f{ 1, 18, 23. Specifically, Plaintiff
identifies the following four categories of satents or omissions that eventually led to a
“precipitous decline” in the value of National Beverage’s securities:

A. The “All Natural” Claim

Defendants marketed, labeled, and publicly regressd to investors #h LaCroix is “all
natural,” “100% natural,” 0¥100% naturally essenced.ld. 11 6, 30, 98. Defendants touted the
“all natural” claim to get a competitive edgeer competing sparkling water productsl. | 6.
According to Plaintiff, thousands of customel®ose LaCroix over competitor brands because of
the assurance of anlf@atural” product. Id.  30. On October 1, 2018,consumer class action
was filed in lllinois state court against Natibrideverage, alleging thdtaCroix was not “all
natural,” as National Beveragead publicly assertedd. I 159. That same day, National Beverage
issued a press release stating]lffessences contained in LaCraise certified by our suppliers to
be 100% natural.”Id. § 160. Four days later, National vigéeage issued arftgr press release
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asserting that LaCroix is “comprg@f natural ingredients,” and thdhere are neither sugars nor
artificial ingredients containeith, nor added to, our IGroix products. All ofour ingredients are
certified as natural.ld. § 162. On October 30, 2018, Dow Jepeblished a news report entitled,
“LaCroix Loses Fizz After Lawsuit-Market Talk,” wdh disclosed results from a survey stating that
28% of LaCroix drinkers consume the product becausénttural,” and that since the filing of the
lllinois action, LaCrax sales dropped 3%ld. § 169. Following the Dow Jones report, LaCroix
tumbled an additional 4.9%, falling from @sé of $100.60 on October 29, 2018 to a close of $95.89
on October 30, 2018d. § 170.

Plaintiff alleges that LaCroix is not, in fa¢all natural” as Defendds claim and that any
public representation by Defendants te ttontrary is materially misleadingld. 1Y 167-168.
Plaintiff further alleges that Defidants’ failure to disclose thailaCroix is purportedly not “all
natural” caused the resing drop in stock price following the puttion of the DowJones article.
Id. 111 169-170.

B. Revenue Concentration

LaCroix is National Beverage™argest product line by far.”Id. § 101. LaCroix also
generated the most growth in National Beverage’s share pdc§.31. On May 4, 2017, Laurent
Grandet (“Grandet”), a market analyst for inte¢ior@al investment bank Credit Suisse, stated that
while LaCroix sales grew by 60%, the remaindeNafional Beverage’s pduct portfolio grew by
only 2%, and that by the firgjuarter of 2018, LaCroix would account for 48% of National
Beverage’s total saledd. [ 31-32. On October 23, 2017, anot@lyst estimated that LaCroix
could comprise as much as 66% of Nationaldage sales, addingath“for valuation and
investment purposes, it would help to know hog & Croix is” as a share of National Beverage’s
entire portfolio. Id. § 115. On December 8, 2017, Granagtigned an “underperform” rating to
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National Beverage's stock, statititat National Beverage’s bussgewas driven “almost entirely”
by LaCroix’s success, the growthajectory of which was slowingld. § 122.

Plaintiff alleges that National Beverage'’s failtmedisclose the total share of sales or profits
attributable to LaCroix vi@ted Generally Accepted Aaaating Principles (“GAAP”Y. which
purportedly require a company tosdiose any “vulnerability fronits outsized concentration of
revenue” in a particular produdd. 1 34. Plaintiff further allegesdahDefendants’ failure to comply
with GAAP “caused a downturn in stock price” because analysts found National Beverage’s
financials “opaque” and were thus unable to a&igly forecast or evaluate National Beverage’s
true value or calculate any risk stemming from tloncentration of NatiohBeverage’s profits in
LaCroix. Id. 11 46, 122.

C. VPO/VPC

On May 4, 2017, in response to National Begereeceiving a “sell'tating from market
analyst Anthony Vendetti, Defendants issued a pedease in which Caporeltgated that National
Beverage “employs methods that no other company hothis area—VPO @locity per outlet) and
VPC (velocity per capita)®” Id. 11 80-81. Caporella adddght National Beverage:

“[U]tilize[s] two proprietary techniques to magnify these measures and this creates

growth never before thought possible. idire to [National Beverage] is creating
velocity per capita though proven velocity predictors. Retailers are amazed by

2 GAAP “comprise a set of basic accounting piptes pertaining to business entities” that
“establish guidelines for measuring, recording, atadsifying a business entity’s transactions.”
Ziemba v. Cascade Int'l, Inc256 F.3d 1194, 1200 n.3 (11th Cir. 2001).

3 National Beverage would latelefine VPO as a metric used to “establish goals for certain
customers,” identify poor performing storespda“give customers better insight into their
consumers.” Am. Compl. § 136. According totiNaal Beverage, the VPO metric is “calculated
by dividing the number of units Ebby a given customer durirg specified time period by the
number of outlets stocking the productltd. VPC metrics, meanwhile, are used “primarily to
guantify the average number ofMeeages by category that people consume each year in the United
States.” Id. According to National Bevage, VPC “is calculated by\dding the number of units
sold in a given geographic area by the population of the area.”
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these methods and find before and afteanges so dynamic that they demand we
afford them the use of these methods as frequently as possible.”

Id. The following day, National Beverage issued hropress release, in which Caporella stated
that “[o]ur impressive VPO calculator . . . refied on the cover of our fiscal year 2015 Proxy is
flashing solid green numbers as we bring FY2017 to a clddef 89. On June 2, 2017, National
Beverage again issued a press release stat@td #Croix “is setting te pace for retailer shelf
reallocation while fueling a new standard for &Rvelocity per outletand VPC (velocity per
capita). The month of May is the engine for wéyapears to [be the] start [of] a great summer and
another great year for our . . . investors[ig: 1 91.

On January 26, 2018, the United States Seesiand Exchange Commission (“SEC”) wrote
a letter to National Beverage regarding Natiddeverage and Caporella’s references to VPO and
VPC in the above-mentioned press releas#s] 126. Specifically, the SEC requested information
on how National Beverage used the VPO &RIC metrics in managing its busineskl. On
February 23, 2018, National Beverage respdndleat its references to VPO and VPC
“characterize[d] the entrepreneurial spirit of [National Beverage] and [Caporella],” and that while
these metrics “are used to establish goals for cectsstomers,” they “are not utilized to manage
the overall executional side of our busineskl”  127. National Beveragelded that it did “not
believe that [its] comments relative to VPO/VBghamics require explanation as [VPO and VPC]
are . .. not key performance indices that would giveeaders a view of the [clJompany through the
‘eyes of the management.Td.

On March 23, 2018, the SEC wrote anotheretefthe “March 23 Letter”) to National
Beverage, requesting that NatibB&verage “reconcile[]” (1) its contention that VPO and VPC are

“not key performance indicators” used by Matil Beverage management with (2) its public



representations that the VP@daVPC help create “growth never before thought possible” and that
National Beverage’s “impressive VPO calculator. is flashing solid green numbers as we bring
FY2017 to a close.’ld. 1 134.

On April 24, 2018, National Bevage responded to the SEQpkining what each metric
measures and how it is calculatdd. § 136. National Beverage alstated that “[a]lthough VPO
and VPC are components in marketing and evalgdtiales] performance . . . the data underlying
these metrics is proprietary” and thus cannot be provided to the BECGn May 14, 2018, the
SEC told National Beverage that it had completed its inquiry into the médtefr.137.

On June 26, 2018, the Wall Street Jourff@SJ”) published an article (the “June 26
Article”) titled: “The SEC Ha Had Its Own Questions About LaCroix,” which effectively
summarized the above-mentioned exchanges between National Beverage and tihe: $HGS.

The day after the WSJ published gtory, National Bevega’'s share price fell by 8.87%, to close
at $100.19.1d. 1 139.

Plaintiff contends that followig the article’s publication, thearket “fully realized that”
National Beverage’s claims about VPO and Vef@at[ing] growth never before though possible”
and “flashing solid green numbers” were false because neither the VPO and VPC measures were
important or material to investorsd. § 139.

D. Sexual Harassment

On July 3, 2018, the WSJ published an art{the “July 3 Article”) titled: “Billionaire
Behind LaCroix Accused of Improp&ouching by Two Pilots.”ld. { 152. The article reported
that Terence Huenfeld and Vincent Citrullo, tearporate jet pilots formerly employed by National

Beverage, filed lawsuits against Caporella and National Beverage for “unwanted touching” by



Caporella on numerous occasions from 2014 to 20d6. Over the next several days, National
Beverage’s share price fell by 2.64étclose at $107.04 on July 6, 2018. § 153.

From 2014 through 2016, National Beverag&®-K filings—signeé and certified by
Caporella and Bracken pursuant to the Sarbamdsy@.ct of 2002—advised investors that its Code
of Ethics was available ondtNational Beverage websithl. 1 69—76. Nation&everage’s Code
of Ethics “absolutely” prohibitetfa]ny type of harassment, whethefra racial, sexual, ethnic, or
other nature.”ld. 1 69. Plaintiff alleges that National Beage’s purported lack of any disciplinary

action against Caporella violatdte Code of Ethics’ “absol|ié prohibition on sexual harassment
and thus made the 10-K filings asige materially false or misleadintd. I 77.

Defendants now move to dismiss the Amehdomplaint pursuant to Fed. Rs. Civ. P.
12(b)(6) and 9(b), arguing that Plaintiff fails tat@sish standing and adequately allege falsity,
scienter, and loss causation for eacthefabove-mentioned statemen&ee generallivot.

. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A.  Fed.R.Civ. P. 12(b)(6)

To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain suffitaetial matter, accepted
as true and construed in the light most favorablineoplaintiff, to state alaim for relief that is
plausible on its faceAshcroftv. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. v. Twombly550
U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). However dieclusory allegations, unwarrantddductions of fact or legal
conclusions masquerading as fawill not prevent dismissal.Oxford Asset Mgmt., Ltd. v. Jaharis
297 F.3d 1182, 1188 (11th Cir. 2002).

B. Section 10(b) and SEC Rule 10b-5

“To state a claim for securitigsaud under Rule 10b-5, a plaiffitmust allege the following
elements: ‘(1) a material misrepresentation orssian; (2) made with senter; (3) a connection
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with the purchase or sale ofacurity; (4) reliance on the misgtatent or omission; (5) economic
loss; and (6) a causal connectibetween the misrepresentatioroanission and the loss, commonly
called ‘loss causation.”Carvelli v. Ocwen Fin. Corp.No. 18-12250, 2019 WL 3819305, at *4
(11th Cir. Aug. 15, 2019) (citinylizarro v. Home Depot, Inc544 F.3d 1230, 1236-37 (11th Cir.
2008)).

The Private Securities Litigation Reforsct (the “PSLRA”) imposes two additional
requirements in securities fraud cases. FirsP8IeERA mandates that acsgities fraud class action
complaint “specify each statement alleged to Haaen misleading, the reason or reasons why the
statement is misleading, and,ah allegation regarding the statmh or omission is made on
information and belief, the complaint shall state witticularity all facts on which that belief is
formed.” See Mizarro544 F.3d at 1238 (quoting 15 U.S..&u-4(b)(1)(B)). Second, the PSLRA
raises the standard for pleading scienter. Speltyfi¢the complaint shall, with respect to each act
or omission alleged to violate this chapter, stai particularity facts giving rise to a strong
inference that the defendant acteithvithe required state of mind.Id. (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78u-
4(b)(2)).

Failure to meet any of the above standdwidl result in a complaint’'s dismissal.”See

Carvelli, 2019 WL 3819305, at *4 (inteal citation omitted).

[1l. DISCUSSION
A. Standing

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has insufficierdlieged injury in fat—-and thus a lack of
standing to proceed in federal court—-because Hidiampiparently sold all othe shares he purchased

during the [C]lass [P]eriod befomny supposed fraud was revealedot. at 26. In response,



Plaintiff argues that he has sthng because he traded National Beverage stock within a reasonable
time after Defendants issued allegefdlige statements. Resp. at 25.

“A plaintiff cannot include class action allegat®in a complaint and expect to be relieved
of personally meeting the requirente of constitutional standing, evérihe persons described in
the class definition would hawtanding themselves to sudstiffin v. Dugger 823 F.2d 1476, 1483
(11th Cir. 1987) (internal quotation marks omitteB@wen v. First Family Fin. Servs., In@33
F.3d 1331, 1339 (11th Cir. 2000) (“Thact that this suit was brought a class action does not
affect the plaintiffs’ burden of showing that they individually satisfy the constitutional requirements
of standing.”). A class &ion plaintiff must show that he or she has “(1) $ered an injury in fact,
that is (a) concrete amghrticularized and (b) &gal or imminent, not agectural or hypothetical;

(2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challedgaction of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, as
opposed to merely speculative, that the injuill be redressed by a favorable decisiorSee
Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC),, 1528 U.S. 167, 180-81 (2000).

Here, Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged an injuryfact. Plaintiff deges a decrease in the
value of his National Beverage shares caused by Defendants’ misleading statements in June and
December of 2017 related to National Beveragesdées growth, corporate governance, and
transparency, and that his loss can beassird by a favorable ruling in his fav@eeAm. Compl.

11 5, 8; Stock Purchase Sheet (ECF No. 14-2)lstihq Plaintiff's purchaseand sales of National
Beverage stock from May 31, 2017 until DecemB8, 2017); Loss Chart (ECF No. 14-3) at 2
(suggesting that Plaintiff losipproximately $600,000 in value after selling National Beverage
shares). Moreover, Plaintiff plausibly allegesttine bought and sold “shares of the stock in
guestion within a reasonablerjal of time after the allegegifraudulent conduct occurred.See
Garfield v. NDC Health Corp.466 F.3d 1255, 1267 (11th Cir. 2006)his suffices to establish
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standing See Thorpe v. Walter Inv. Mgmt., Cor@ase No. 1:14—cv—20880-UU, 2016 WL
4006661, at *7 n.5 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 16, 2016) (holdiraf the plaintiffs “cledy” had standing to
bring Rule 10b-5 claim when they sufficiently alldgé€l) a decrease in stock value, (2) caused by
the defendants’ misleading statements, and (3}hledbss could be remedied by a favorable ruling
in the action);Barr v. Matria Healthcare, In¢.324 F. Supp. 2d 1369, 1376-77 (N.D. Ga. 2004)
(holding that because the plaintiff suffered an dypacket loss, he had standing to sue despite the
fact that he sold his stockipr to the truth of the alleged misstatements coming to light).

B. Violations of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

Defendants next argue that Pl#inflails to sufficiently allegea material misrepresentation
or omissions, scienter, and loss causation for eatifted§tatements above. The Court will address
each statement in turn.

1. The “All Natural” Claim

Defendants claim that the “all natural” ingredient claim fails to adequately allege falsity
because it is entirely based on allegations nradlge lllinois state codiraction. Mot. at 11-12.
Defendants further argue that ahgcline in share price following the reporting of the lllinois state
action in no way suggests the falsity of the claich.at 12. In response, Plaintiff argues that after

the filing of the lllinoisaction, Defendants were obligated $sue corrective disclosures regarding

4 To the extent Defendants argue that PHiniust show loss causation to garner standseg,
Mot. at 19, the Court disagreeSee Plymouth Cty. Ret. Sys. v. Carter’s,16¢VIL ACTION NO.
1:08-cv-02940-JOF, 2011 WL 13124501, at *10 (N@®a. Mar. 17, 2011) (holding that loss
causation “need not be sufficiently alleged fod@lf-5] plaintiff to successfully assert standing,”
and stating that “although there are few cases adihg standing in secugs claims in a similar
context, the Eleventh Circuit hasade it clear in other contexts that ‘no authority even remotely
suggests that proximate causation appligsdaloctrine oftanding.”) (citingFocus on the Family
v. Pinellas Suncoast Transit AutB44 F.3d 1263, 1273 (11th Cir. 2003)).
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its “all natural” claims by explaining that that'ielie[d] on [its] suppliers to certify the accuracy of
its claims.” Resp. at 16-17.

“Rule 10b-5 prohibits not only literally false statents, but also any omissions of material
fact ‘necessary in order to make the statemematse, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleadingPindWhat Inv. Grp. v. Findwhat.cqré58 F.3d 1282, 1305 (11th
Cir. 2011) (citing 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(b)). “By untarily revealing onesict about its operations,

a duty arises for the corporationdisclose such other facts, if arag are necessary to ensure that
what was revealed is not so incomplete as to misldadd."A statement is misleading if in the light
of the facts existing at the time thfe statement[,] a reasonable ineesin the exercise of due care,
would have been misled by itId. “Thus, the appropriate primamyquiry is into the meaning of
the statement to the reasonable inmeand its relationship to truth.1d. Here, Plaintiff fails to
sufficiently allege that the “all naturat&presentation is materially false.

First, Plaintiff cannot merely ity allegations from a complaint in another jurisdiction as the
sole source of support for his claims hefee Pace v. QuintanilldNo. SA CV 14-2067-DOC
(RNBX)., 2015 WL 652719, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 2815) (“An attorney cannot rely solely on
another complaint as the sole lsafgir his or heanllegations.”);Tucker v. Am. Int'| Grp.No. 3:09—
CV-1499 (CSH)., 2012 WL 685461, at *4 (D. Comiar. 2, 2012) (“[I]t is hornbook law that
unproven, non-adjudicated allegations are not evidende.rg; Connetics Corp. Sec. Litjich42 F.
Supp. 2d 996, 1005 (C.D. Cal. 2008) (striking allegetiavithin a complaint that were taken from
a related SEC complaint where plaintiffs’ counséetesolely on the SEC complaint and failed to
conduct an independent investigatiato the SEC’s allegations).

Second, National Beverage’s alleged reliancéssuppliers’ certificabns that LaCroix’s
ingredients are all naturdbes not necessaritgnder National Beverage’sli‘aatural” claim false.
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See FindWha658 F.3d at 1305 (stating tlasfendants need not discldaets that are “interesting,
market-wise,” but otherwise do not “neutralinaly the natural and normal implication of its
statements”)McClain v. Iradimed Corp.111 F. Supp. 3d 1293, 1304 (SHIa. 2015) (holding that
a failure to disclose that the defendant’sducis were “adulterated and misbranded” is not
actionable where the plaintiffs failed to presemy avidence suggesting that the products were, in
fact, “adulterated and misbranded” at the timetlud statement’s issuance). Here, National
Beverage’s reliance on its suppliecsttifications in no way “neutliae[s]” its previous contentions
that LaCroix is all natural.See FindWhat658 F.3d at 1305. Moreover, Plaintiff fails to present
any evidence beyond unproven allegations within a seplarasuit that LaCroix is not, in fact, “all
natural.”

Accordingly, the Court finds th statement nonactionabl&ee Iradimedl111 F. Supp. at
1304 Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Amendedn@maint as to Plaintiff's “all natural”
statement is therefore GRANTED.

2. Revenue Concentration

Defendants next argue that the market alasady aware of LaCnois dominance within
National Beverage’s portfolio, so any omissiorite exact amount or percentage of LaCroix sales
relative to other National Beverage products didmake National Beverage’s financial statements
materially false. Mot. at 16—17. Defendants furtegyue that Plaintiff faildo establish scienter
and loss causation for the renee concentration omissiond. at 17-18, 24. In response, Plaintiff

argues that GAAP required Nanal Beverage to disclose any rigifating to reveue concentration

°> Because the Court finds the “all natural” staént nonactionable, the Court need not address
Defendants’ remaining arguments regjag scienter and loss causati@ee Iradimedl11 F. Supp.
3d at 1304 (dismissing claim after finding statetmenactionable for lack of falsity).
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when such concentration could have caused a-tega severe impact” on the company. Resp. at
13.

The Court need not decidehether National Beverage'ssdk of specificity regarding
LaCroix’s revenue concentration aonted to a material omission caused a loss in the value of
National Beverage stock besauPlaintiff fails to sufttiently allege scienteiSee Brophy v. Jiangbo
Pharm., Inc, 781 F.3d 1296, 1302 (11th Cir. 2015) (affingidismissal of § 10(b) claim for lack
of scienter “[e]Jven assumingrguendothat the investors havsufficiently pled” remaining
elements?y.

To establish scienter, a plaintiff must showedendant’s (1) intent to deceive, manipulate,
or defraud or (2) severe recklessneSee Mizzarp544 F.3d at 1238 (inteal citation marks and
guotations omitted). Importantly, “violations GAAP, without more, may establish negligence,
but can never establish scienteSée In re Sportsline.com Sec. Lit866 F. Supp. 2d 1159, 1165
(S.D. Fla. 2004) (internal citations omitted)emba 256 F.3d at 1208-09. Further, Plaintiff must
show a “strong inference of scienter feach defendantvith respect toeach violation.” See
McClain, 111 F. Supp. 3d at 1306 (internal tdaa omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, National Beverage repeatedly disclosatie¢dSEC that LaCroix was its “strategically
largest,” “most significant,” and “dominant” bran&eeNational Beverage 2016 10-K (ECF No.
26-10) at 5; National Beverage 2017 10-K (ECF No. 26-5) at 6; National Beverage 2018 10-K

(ECF No. 26-6) at 7. Plaintiff provides no evidence to sug¢hat there was ever any market

¢ Although the Court found the ‘latatural” statement nonactionalze a matter of law, the Court
need not address whether the revenue contemramission is materially misleading because
Plaintiff's failure to adequately allege scienter dooms the claim entiGs#g Brophy781 F.3d at
1302.

” The Court takes judicial notice of any docutsdiled by National Beverage with the SEC for
the purpose of adjudicating this MotioBee In re Altisource Portfolio Sols, S.A. Sec. LiGgse
13



confusion about whether LaCroix constituteddiaproportionate share of National Beverage's
revenues. In facRlaintiff allegesthat analysts had already esdbed that “throughout the class
period,” LaCroix accounted anywhere from one haltwo-thirds of National Beverage’s entire
portfolio, a “huge concentration.’Am. Compl. 11 32, 34 115, 122. akitiff thus fails to present
any evidence—beyond a potential GAAP violation+-tbefendants acted with severe recklessness
in failing to disclose the precise concentratafnLaCroix revenues within National Beverage’s
product portfolio. See Sportsline.canB66 F. Supp. 2d at 1165 (stating that alleged GAAP
violations “provide evidence oscienter only when accompanied lagdditional facts and
circumstances that raise an inferencérafidulent intent”) (emphasis addeti);re KLX, Inc. Sec.
Litig., 232 F. Supp. 3d 1269, 1279 (S.D. Fla. 2017) (holttiagthe plaintiffs’ fdure to allege “the
existence of any report, document, email, orest&nt that, if true, sugges that the defendants
knew or were reckless not to know” of the falsifythe statement at issyprecluded a finding of
scienter);In re Gold Res. Corp. Sec. Litjgfl76 F.3d 1103, 1113 (10thrCR015) (holding that
scienter insufficiently pled when the plaintiff fadl to allege any “partitarized facts"—other than
GAARP violations—suggesting thatetldefendants knew or recklesslgrdigarded a material fact or
omission).

Moreover, Plaintiff entirely fails to detail Caporella or Bracken’s roles in omitting to specify
LaCroix’s exact revenue conceation and whether either Deigant benefitted from these
omissions. See Mulvaney v. GEO Grp., In@37 F. Supp. 3d 1308, 1323-24 (S.D. Fla. 2017)

(holding that plaintiffs failed to adequately pleatkater when they did nailege that the individual

14-81156 CIV-WPD, 2015 WL 12001262,*& (S.D. Fla. Sept. 4, 2015) (“[T]he Eleventh Circuit
has expressly held that a court may judicialhyice relevant documeniisgally required by, and
publicly filed with, the [SEC].”)Harris v. Ivax Corp, 182 F.3d 799, 802 n.2 (11th Cir. 1999)
(noting that the “usual rules faonsidering 12(b)(6) motions are [] bent to permit consideration of
an allegedly fraudulent s&hent in context.”).
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defendants sold securities during the classopedr otherwise benefitted from the allegedly
misleading statements).o the extent Plaintiff argues th@aporella or Bracken must have known
of any concentration-related issoecause of their senior executstatus within the company, this
Court has repeatedly held that “merely holding atmwsof power does not lead to an inference of
scienter without specific allegations of the [ijndividual [diefants’ role in the fraud.'See idat
1324;0wl Creek I, L.Pv. Ocwen Fin. Corp Case No. 18-80506-CIV-BLOOM/REINHART, 2018
WL 4844019, at *9 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 4, 2018) (holdthgt allegation thanhdividual defendant “must
have” known of lack of complianasith regulatory standards insuffently alleges scienter when
the complaint fails to “reference any specifeport or statement that was produced to” that
defendant regarding the lack of compliance) (internal citations omitted).

Finally, even after conducting“aolistic review” of all of tre allegations in the Amended
Complaint, Plaintiff fails to conwice the Court that an inferencesaienter regarding Defendants’
alleged revenue concentration isgion is “at least as compeitj as any opposing inference one
could draw from the facts alleged3ee Durgin v. MoM15 F. App’x 161, 165 (11th Cir. 2011)
(internal citations omitted). As stated abovetidial Beverage repeatedly disclosed LaCroix’s
outsized concentration of the company’s total pticfio the SEC and this concentration was widely
known and accepted by market analysBefendants’ failure to disclose tlexactproportion of
revenue concentration in LaCroix is therefo “highly unreasonable or an extreme departure
from the standards afrdinary care.”See idat 166—671holding that plaintifffailed to sufficiently
allege scienter when the colapt's allegations were not as compelling as an “any opposing
inference of conduct that did neiolate § 10(b),” ad that “at worst, dendants acted with
inexcusable negligence”) (internal citation and quotation marks omitiéoleover, Plaintiff fails
to allege any “red flags that would have alertBéfendants that their failure to disclose the exact
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revenue concentration in LaCroix amounted to a material omisSieaidat 165 (internal citation
and quotation marks omitted).

Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to allege sufficieriicts that, “taken collectively, give rise to a
strong inference of scienter” regardi the revenue concentration omissiokee id. Thus,
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Amended Conmlas to Plaintiff's revenue concentration
claim is GRANTED.

3. VPO/VPC

Defendants next argue that Plaintiff failsstdficiently allege that the VPO/VPC statements
were materially misleading and made with scient@eeMot. at 18-21. Defendants further argue
that Plaintiff fails to plausibly allege loss catisa because Defendants’ responses to the SEC do
not constitute “corrective” discémres that reveal new facts otherwise reveal any “actual
wrongdoing.” Id. at 24-25. In response, Plaintiff arguleat Caporella falsely claimed that VPO
and VPC were proprietary to Natial Beverage, and misled inves by suggesting that VPO and
VPC were important metrics toeate growth in the company. Resp. at 8-12. Plaintiff further
argues that Caporella and National/Bege acted with scienter, and that statements at issue caused
a drop in the value of National Beverage shatdsat 12—-13, 18-19, 22-24.

The Court need not decide whet Plaintiff sufficiently allges a material misstatement or
scienter because Plaintiff fails pdausibly allege loss causatiokee Meyer v. Greengé10 F.3d
1189, 1202 (11th Cir. 2013) (affirming dismissal ®fL0(b) claim when #n plaintiff failed to
adequately allege loss causatiomamlless of whether the plaintgtifficiently pled the remaining
securities fraud elementspapssoy608 F. App’x at 861-864 (failur® adequately allege loss

causation dooms claim even when the materiaktaiement and scienter elements are met).
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“To show loss causation in a § b¢laim, a plaintiff must éér proof of a causal connection
between the misrepresentation and the imvest’s subsequent decline in valudfeyer, 710 F.3d
at 1195 (internal citation and quotation marks omitte8gction 10(b) plaintiffs can prove loss
causation by: “(1) identifying a ‘cagctive disclosure’ (a release of information that reveals to the
market the pertinent truth that was previously concealed or obscured by the company's fraud); (2)
showing that the stock price drogpgsoon after the corrgee disclosure; and (3) eliminating other
possible explanations for this price drop, so thafab#inder can infer that is more probable than
not that it was the corrective dissure—as opposed to other possd#eressive factors—that caused
at least a ‘substantial’ amant of the price drop.’See FindWhat658 F.3d at 1311-12.

Plaintiff argues that two public disclossreegarding VPO and VPC constitute “corrective
disclosures” demonstrating loss causation: (&) $#i£C’s March 23 Letter to National Beverage,
requesting that the company explain the discrepbhatween National Beverage’s public statements
stressing VPO and VPC'’s importance and Nation&kBasge’s representation to the SEC that these
metrics are “not key performae indicators” and (2) the WSJ&ine 26 Article, summarizing
National Beverage’s correspondence with the Sk¢ch, according to Platiff, “provided the
market with a full realizatiothat Defendants’ claims abouteti/PO and VPC metrics were false
and misleading.” Resp. at 23—-24.aintiff alleges that one busise day after the SEC issued the
March 23 Letter, National Beveragaffered a “statistically signdant” drop in share price. Am.
Compl. 17 10-11, 135 Moreover, following the WSJ’s publitan of the June 26 Article, National

Beverage’s share price fell $9.75, or 8.87%h. 1 139.

8 As noted by Defendants, the Amended Complaiimtdsnsistent as to ¢hamount of the decline,
at first stating that it fell by $1.96 from agmious close of $87.65, Am. Compl. § 11, and then
claiming that it fell by $4.82 from the same $87.65 claef 135.
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The Court agrees with Defendahtt neither the March 23 tter nor the June 26 Article
are “corrective disclosures” thateveal[ed] to the market the pertinent truth that was previously
concealed or obscured by the company’s fra&®é FindWhab58 F.3d at 1311, 1311 n.28 (adding
that because “a corrective disclosunust reveal a previouslyrcealed truth, it obviously must
disclose new information, and cannot be merely confirmatory.”).

First, the March 23 Letter—noting a discrepga between National Beverage’s various
statements to the public and the SEC and tleguesting further information to address the
discrepancy—does not reveal any “previously concealed tr@be’ Sapssp808 F. App’x at 861—
864 (holding that the plaintiffs failed to adequpatglead loss causation because the revelation of a
governmental investigation intogtdefendant and a related whibtt®ver case concerning similar
conduct did not amount tocorrective disclosureAlthough the letter certainly suggests skepticism
with National Beverage’s prior response to the SEC, it does not constitute either “proof of fraud” or
“proof of liability,” and othervise “merely confirm[s]” the SEC’already establieed doubt of the
veracity of the relevant VPC/VPO statemeng&ee id.at 863;FindWhat 658 F.3d at 1311 n.28.
Plaintiff argues that the March 2&tter put investors “on notice ftre first time that ‘the Company

was failing to cooperate with the SEC.” Res2a&t But the SEC never accused National Beverage
of failing to cooperate. As Bintiff acknowledges, the SEC mbreequested a response to the
above-stated inquiry, and National Beverage cordpligh the request by sponding to the inquiry
approximately one month latelSee generallyvlarch 23 Letter; Am. Compl { 136. Because the
March 23 Letter does not reveal dpyeviously concealed truth,” Plaifftfails to sufficiently allege

that the March 23 Letter constitutes a corrective disclosure that “establishes a causal link” to

Plaintiff's stock-value lossSee Sapssp808 F. App’x at 863 (internal citation omitted).
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Second, the June 26 Article is not a corrective disclosure becauseetbeepackaging of
already-public information . . . is simply insufiént to constitute a corrective disclosureSee
Meyer, 710 F.3d at 1199 (explaining thiévery report “based on akdy public information could
form the basis for a corrective disclosure, theargwnvestor who suffera loss in the financial
markets could sue under § bp@sing an analyst’s negative an@ysf public filingsas a corrective
disclosure”). The June 26 Article does not add any commeiatiaajysis, or information beyond a
summary of the already existing corresponddratereen National Beverage and the SE€eAm.
Compl. § 138. AccordinghyRlaintiff fails to allege any “new” iimrmation within that article that
revealed a “previously concealed truttsee FindWhat658 F.3d at 1311.

Curiously, Plaintiff appears to argue that fume 26 Article, which merely summarizes the
SEC'’s correspondence with National Beveragerdigg VPO and VPC, is based upon information
not publicly known prior to the article’s publicati. Resp. at 23-24. Howey®laintiff fails to
identify any information mentioned in the artidleat was not already publicly known. In fact,
Plaintiff himselfalleges that investors already knew altbetMarch 23 Letter almost immediately
after its releaseSeeAm. Compl. 11 10-11, 134-135; Resp. at Baintiff cannot have it both
ways. Plaintiff cannot argue one breath that the SEC copesdence was publicly absorbed and
reflected a decline in National Berage’s share pricgnd in another that the June 26 Article
reflected purely privateaformation, the contents of whichdtiff now conveniently declines to
identify.

Plaintiff finally argues that Dfendants “fail to offer any explanation for the market's
reaction to what they contend svevell-known information.” Resp. &4. However, the Eleventh
Circuit has made clear that securities fralalntiffs—not defendants—have the burden of plausibly
alleging loss causation under 8§ 10(b), includingnieiating other possible explanations for [a]
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price drop.” See FindWha658 F.3d at 1311-1Rjeyer, 710 F.3d at 1195 (“Tshow loss causation

. . a plaintiff must offer proof of a caal connection between the misrepresentation and the
investment’s subsequent decliire value.”) (emphasis addedBapssoy 608 F. App’'x at 864
(Martin, J., concurring) (“dder our binding precedent Meyef], plaintiffs must be armed with
proof of a misrepresentation in ordergleadsecurities fraud.”) (emphasis in original).

Because Plaintiff fails to sufficiently allegbat the March 23 Letter and June 26 Article
constitute corrective disclosures that “establish[] a causal link” to Plaintiff's stock-value loss,
Plaintiff fails to plausiby} allege loss causatiorsee Sapssp808 F. App’x at 863 (internal citation
omitted). Accordingly, Defendants’ Motion to Digga the Amended Complaint as to the VPO/VPC
statements is GRANTED.

4. Sexual Harassment

Defendants finally argue that the allegations of sexual harassment against Caporella: (1) did
not render National Beverage’s anti-harassmenicypowithin its code of ethics materially
misleading; (2) are insufficient to establish stéx; and (3) did not comnbute to a loss in stock
price following the WSJ’s July Article describing the allegationdviot. at 7-9, 16. In response,
Plaintiff argues that the allegatis rendered the code of ethiomterially misleading; that
Defendants acted with scienter by “recklesslyimientionally omitting information of alleged
harassment”; and that the July 3 Article is a corrective disclosure for loss causation purposes. Resp.
at 14-16, 24. The Court need not decide wheBRiamtiff sufficiently alleged any material
misstatement or scienter because Plaintiff again fails to plausibly allege loss cauSatidvieyer
710 F.3d at 1202.

“[Tlhe mere repackaging chlready-public information . . . is simply insufficient to
constitute a corrective disclosureSee idat 1199. As alleged, the JuByArticle presents no “facts
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to the market that are . . . pulbjicevealed for the first time.’See idat 1197-98 (report does not
constitute corrective disclosure where its “miadeportions” are “gleaned entirely from public
filings and other publicly available informationp{ernal citations omitted). For example, Plaintiff
alleges that the July 3 Article merely summarizes two lawsuits filed in this Court against Caporella
and National Beverage, which allegetder alia, that Caporella sexuallyarassed Huenfeld and
Citrullo on numerous occasionS§eeAm. Compl.  152. Citrullo tolthe WSJ that he “stands by
his allegations 100%. [Caporella’s conjugas definitely inappropriate.”ld. “On this news,”
Plaintiff alleges, “National Beerage’s share price fell $2.96; 2.64%, over the following two
trading days.”ld. § 153.

However, Huenfeld and Citrullo both filed their respective lawsuits more than eighteen
monthsprior to the publication of the July 3 ArticleSee Huenfeld v. Nat'l Beverage Corpase
No. 1:16-cv-62881-RNS (S.D. Flaldd Dec. 7, 2016), ECF No. Cjtrullo v. Nat'l Beverage Corp.
Case No. 0:17-cv-60225-WPD (S.Bla. filed Jan. 27, 2017), ECF Nb. Plaintiff does not allege
that any of the allegations referenced withiaesh complaints were natready publicly disclosed
when the WSJ published the July 3 ArtigleNor does Plaintiff identify any statement within the

July 3 Article that constitutes “new informatiostifficient to constitute a corrective disclostfte.

° Although the complaints in Ho@ctions are presently sealétgy were only ordered sealafier
the publication of the July 3 ArticleSee HuenfeldCase No. 1:16-cv-62881-RNS (S.D. Fla. filed
Apr. 10, 2019), ECF No. 14 (granting joint motiorstal documents, including complaint, after the
“plaintiffs recanted their allegations'§itrullo v. Nat'l Beverage Corp.Case No. 17-60225-CIV-
DIMITROULEAS/Snow, 2018 WL 6620110, at *2 (& Fla.) (recommending granting joint
motion to seal documents, including complaiimt, part because “théactual and/or implied
allegations in the [complaint] . . . have beethdrawn and recanted by the [p]laintiffigport and
recommendation adopted018 WL 6620464, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 2, 2018).

10 To the extent Plaintiff argudisat Citrullo’s statements thhe “stands by his allegations 100%”
and that Caporella’s conduct “was definitelgppropriate” constitutes new information, the Court
disagrees because these statements are “nuenefiymatory” of already public informationSee
FindWhat 658 F.3d at 1311 n.28.
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Plaintiff notes that the Eleventh Circuitd® expressed a willingsg to countenance ‘some

lag in the market’s processing pdiblic information.” Resp. a24 n.13 (internafjuotation marks
omitted). But the more than eighteen-month gap here is far greater than the relatively narrow leeway
envisioned by the Eleventh Circuit, particularly when the disclosed information is completely
nonscientific. See Sapsspw08 F. App’x at 863 (citing cases holding that three-month delay
between a public disclosure and price drop “did not break the causal chain for loss causation”
because the disclosed information was only cohgmsible to physiciansr other subject matter
experts). Moreover, PIldiff fails to provide any evidence tuggest that the allegations at issue
were not public “on the day of” ¢hJuly 3 Article’s publication, “wiah is the relevant time for our
purposes here.See Meyer710 F.3d at 1198 n.9 (rejecting claim tpatperty appraiser sales lists
were private documents when evidence suggestedhihdists were publicly available at the time
of the alleged corrective disclosure). Nor d&¥aintiff provide any evidnce that the relevant
pleadings were not “easily obtabia” from the Court’'s docketSee Sapssp808 F. App’x at 863
(stating that information “thatad existed in publicly accebf& court dockets” made the
information “easily obtainable” and that “the marlets able to assimilate the information without
the assistance of” a report merely summarizing itifisrmation). Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to
sufficiently allege that the July 3 Article constitsi@corrective disclosure that “establishes a causal
link” to Plaintiff's stock-value loss.See Sapssp®08 F. App’x at 863 (internal citation omitted).
Thus, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Amded Complaint as to the sexual harassment
allegations is GRANTED.

Because Plaintiff fails to sufficiently pleatat any material statement or omission by
Defendants violated § 10(lDefendants’ Motion to Dismiss Count | of the Amended Complaint is
GRANTED.
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C. Violations of § 20(a) (Count Two)

Because Plaintiff fails to staéepredicate claim for primary ldity under § 10(b), Plaintiff's
claim under § 20(a) also failsSee Thompson v. RenServe Media, Inc610 F.3d 628, 635-36
(11th Cir. 2010) (“[A] primary violation of the dhe securities law is a@ssential element of a §
20(a) derivative claim . . . As the . [cJomplaint failed to allegprimary liability under § 10(b),
there can be no secondary lid@ under § 20(a).”).

Accordingly, Defendants’ Motion to Disss Count Il of the Amended Complaint is
GRANTED.
V. CONCLUSION

UPON CONSIDERATION of thevotion, the pertinent portionsf the record, and being
otherwise fully advised in the premises, ihexeby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss (ECF Nos. 26) the Amend€lass Action Complaint (ECF No. 25) is
GRANTED. The Clerk of Court imstructed to CLOSE this cas@ll pending motions, if any, are
DENIED AS MOOT.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miankilorida, this 29th  day of August, 2019.

)

K MICHAEL MOORE
UNITED STATES CHIEF DISTRICT JUDGE

C: All counsel of record
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